I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner State of Washington, by and through the Klickitat 

County Prosecuting Attorney's Office, asks this Court to review the 

decision of the Court of Appeals referred to in section B. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision in State v. 

Shwartz, COA No. 35171-8-III, filed November 15, 2018, attached as an 

appendix to this petition. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

A. Whether the court erred when it ruled that under RCW 

9.94A.525(2)(c), when time is calculated from the date oflast release from 

confinement it does not include confinement imposed for failure to make 

payment towards a legal financial obligation. 

B. Whether the court erred by not considering the State's argument 

that the trigger date for calculating washout under RCW 9.94A.525 was the 

last release from custody pursuant to a felony conviction. 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

In January, 2017, Matthew Thomas Schwartz (herein Defendant) 

pleaded guilty to failure to register as a sex offender. RP 21; CEP 1-6. The 

Defendant's criminal history was presented at the sentencing hearing, 

including a VUCSA - Possession of Methamphetamine violation in 2014 



and three other felony offenses dating back to 1997, 1998, and 2001. RP 21-

22. The criminal history was not contested. RP 21-22. The calculation of 

the offender score was. RP 22. 

At the hearing Defendant argued the offender score should not be 

calculated to include the 2001 and 1997 offenses because they had "washed 

out" pursuant to RCW 9.94A.525(2)(c). RP 22. Specifically, Defendant 

believed the five years he had spent in the community since the judgment 

and sentence for the 2001 failure to register washed out the earlier 

convictions, which resulted in his offender score being a 4. RP 22-23. 

The State asserted, and the trial court held, the offender score was a 

6 because the prior convictions did not wash out. RP 22-28. This finding 

was based on Defendant's subsequent incarcerations in 2014 and 2015 for 

his failure to pay his legal financial obligations associated with his 2001 

conviction. RP 22-23. The trial court disagreed with Defendant's 

contention that RCW 9.94A.525(2)(c) should be read to mean five years 

from the judgment and sentence. RP 28. With an offender score of 6 

Defendant was sentenced to 17 months. RP 28. Defendant appealed. CP 76-

91. 

Defendant appealed the calculation of his offender score. Division 

Three of the Court of Appeals rejected the State and trial court's position 

and reversed, holding that the language '"the last date of release from 

confinement ... pursuant to a felony conviction' in RCW 9.94A.525(2)(c) 
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does not include confinement imposed for a failure to make a payment 

towards LFOs." Appendix at 2. The Court of Appeals did not address the 

State's second argument that the 2014 felony conviction reset the trigger 

period for washout and therefore none of the convictions washout as it was 

less than five years between the 2014 conviction and the current 2017 

conviction. 

V. ARGUMENT 

Division Three's decision reversing the trial court's ruling that 

confinement pursuant to RCW 9.94A.525(2)(c) does not include 

confinement imposed for failure to make payments towards legal financial 

obligations is directly in conflict with Division Two's holding in State v. 

Mehrabian, 175 Wn. App. 678, 308 P.3d 660 (2013), with the Court 

acknowledging "we disagree with State v. Mehrabian." This disagreement 

fits squarely within a basis for review under RAP 13 .4(b )(2), a "conflict 

with a published decision of the Court of Appeals." Further, with the 

substantial impact that this decision has on this case, and future cases, this 

matter is ripe for review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and RAP 13.4(b)(4) based 

on the "significant question oflaw" which is an "issue of substantial public 

interest." 

In State v. Mehrabian, the court considered whether convictions that 

have 'washed' were revived by subsequent anests on the 'washed' case, 

specifically where a later conviction occurred for failure to comply with the 
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legal financial obligations on the underlying conviction. 185 Wn. App. at 

713. There, the defendant had been released from his original crime in 1993, 

but had most recently been in custody "pursuant to" that felony conviction 

in 2003, where he was held for failure to comply with his legal financial 

obligations. Mehrabian, 185 Wn. App. at 713. 

The Court in Mehrabian cited to a series of cases supporting its 

decision that '" confinement pursuant to a felony conviction' includes 

confinement due to a probation violation since the confinement results 'in 

the course of carrying out' and 'according to' a felony conviction." 

Mehrabian, 185 Wn. App. at 716 (citing State v. Blair, 57 Wn. App. 512, 

789 P.2d 104 (1990)). 

In State v. Blair, 57 Wn. App. 512, 789 P.2d 104 (1990), the 

statutory language interpreted was identical to the language at issue in 

Mehrabian. In Blair, the court held "incarceration for a probation violation 

constitutes confinement pursuant to a felony conviction within the meaning 

of the statutory washout provision." Blair, 57 Wn. App. at 515-17. In 

making its decision, Blair cited to older caselaw of State v. Perencevic, 54 

Wn. App. 585, 589, 774 P.2d 558 (1989), where the court determined with 

regards to the escape statute that "confinement for a community supervision 

violation was confinement 'pursuant to a felony."' 

In three separate decisions the Courts have held that violations of 

the underlying conditions resulting in further confinement is confinement 
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"pursuant to a felony" per the statute. In Mehrabian the exact issue as here 

was presented, with the court ruling that confinement for failure to pay legal 

financial obligations was considered "pursuant to a felony." Mehrabian, 

185 Wn. App. at 716. Division Three's decision to go against prior 

published case law makes this matter ripe for review, and further is 

necessitated by the fact that based on these current cases, the matter must 

be addressed by the Washington Supreme Court to ensure uniformity. 

Additionally, The State asks the Washington Supreme Court to rule 

on the State's argument that the 2014 felony conviction was the correct 

trigger date and that the five year washout period had not been satisfied 

when he was convicted and sentenced in 2017 on the instant action. 

VI. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, this Court should accept review 

pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(2), (3), and (4). 

1!47() 
DAVID R. QUESNEL 
W.S.B.A. No. 38579 
Prosecuting Attorney 
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IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

DIVISION THREE 

STATE OF WASHINGTON, 

Respondent, 

v. 

MATTHEW THOMAS SCHWARTZ, 

Appellant. 

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

) 

No.  35171-8-III 

PUBLISHED OPINION 

SIDDOWAY, J. — In several contexts, statutory language that detention or 

confinement is “pursuant to a felony conviction” has been held by our courts to include 

detention or confinement for a probation or community custody violation.  In calculating 

Matthew Schwartz’s offender score in 2017 for his failure to register as a sex offender, 

the trial court was persuaded that his 1997 and 2001 convictions for class C felonies 

never washed out because recent incarcerations for willfully failing to pay legal financial 

obligations (LFOs) were “pursuant to” his then 16-year-old 2001 conviction. 

FILED 
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The obligation to make payments toward an LFO constitutes a condition or 

requirement of a sentence.  In the event of willful noncompliance, the offender is subject 

to modification of his or her judgment and sentence to impose further punishment.  E.g., 

RCW 9.94A.760(11), .6333; RCW 9.94B.040.  Yet unlike nonfinancial conditions of a 

criminal judgment and sentence, a condition requiring payment toward LFOs is not 

directly related to public safety, and it creates an obligation that can continue well beyond 

the statutory maximum term for the crime: for 20 years in the case of an offense 

committed before July 1, 2000, and indefinitely for an offense committed on or after that 

date.  RCW 9.94A.760(4). 

Given these differences and the purpose of the wash-out provisions of the 

Sentencing Reform Act of 1981, chapter 9.94A RCW, we hold that the language “the last 

date of release from confinement . . . pursuant to a felony conviction” in RCW 

9.94A.525(2)(c) does not include confinement imposed for a failure to make a payment 

toward LFOs.  In so holding, we disagree with State v. Mehrabian, 175 Wn. App. 678, 

308 P.3d 660 (2013).  We remand for resentencing. 

FACTS AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

In February 2017, the State charged Matthew Schwartz with one count of failing 

to register as a sex offender.  He pleaded guilty as charged.  At sentencing, the court was 

presented with the following criminal history for Mr. Schwartz: