FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/14/2019 4:26 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 966435

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Petitioner,

V.

MATTHEW THOMAS SCHWARTZ, Respondent.

ANSWER TO STATE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

TANESHA LA'TRELLE CANZATER Attorney for Matthew Thomas Schwartz Post Office Box 29737 Bellingham, Washington 98228-1737 (360) 362-2435

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Generally, we rely on the facts we presented in our opening brief. For purposes here, however, we adopt the State's rendition of the facts in its petition.

V. REASONS WHY THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

The criteria for which this court will accept review are constrained by the very specific and limited circumstances described in our rule of appellate procedure or RAP 13.4(b). This court will only grant a petitioner's request for review if the court of appeals' decision conflicts with a decision of this court or with another court of appeals' decision; involves a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States; or involves an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4).

According to the State, State v. Schwartz goes against prior published case law established in State v. Mehrabian, 175 Wn. App. 678, 714-15, 308 P.3d 660 (2013). So, in order to ensure uniformity, this Court should accept review. But, Division Three's decision is consistent with the purpose of the wash-out provisions in the Sentencing Reform Act of 1981, chapter 9.94A RCW, considers what the legislature intends for financial and non-financial conditions and, aligns with this state's efforts to ensure poor people are not unfairly jailed or tied for years to the criminal justice system because they

are unable to pay legal financial obligations. Div. III Opinion at 10.1 Therefore, this Court need not accept review either to clarify the law or to make the law more uniformed.

Granted, as the State points out in its petition, Division Three expressly disagrees with <u>State v. Mehrabian</u>, <u>175 Wn. App. 678</u>, and arguably that could be reason enough for this Court to accept review. But, <u>Schwartz</u> and <u>Mehrabian</u> are based on different analyses.

Division One relies on <u>State v. Perencevic</u>, <u>54 Wn. App. 585</u>, <u>589</u>, <u>774 P.2d 558</u> (1989) and <u>State v. Blair</u>, <u>57 Wn. App. 512</u>, <u>515-16</u>, <u>789 P.2d 104 (1990)</u> to shape it analysis in <u>State v. Mehrabian</u>.

In State v. Perencevic, 54 Wn. App. at 589, 774 P.2d 558, the court "held that confinement for a community supervision violation was confinement 'pursuant to a conviction of a felony." State v. Mehrabian, 175 Wn. App. 678, 714–15, 308 P.3d 660, 679 (2013), quoting Blair, 57 Wn. App. at 515, 789 P.2d 104. And, in State v. Blair, the court ruled, "there is no reason to disassociate the probation confinement from its underlying cause, the felony conviction." Blair, at 515-16, 789 P.2d 104. What is more, the court's analysis of Perencevic and Blair concentrated on alleged violations of community supervision (emphasis added) pursuant to a felony conviction, not on "substantial differences between financial and nonfinancial conditions..." Div. III
Opinion at 10-11; State v. Mehrabian, 175 Wn. App. at 714.

In addition, the State asks this Court to rule on whether the 2014 felony conviction reset the trigger period because Division Three neglected to do so. State's Pet. Rev. 3.

3

[&]quot;Legislature passes bill to bring fairness to Washington's system of Legal Financial Obligations," *ACLU Washington*, News Release: Tuesday, March 6, 2018.

We believe Division Three addressed the issues raised in this matter and resolved any doubt about which date is the correct trigger date and about which convictions washout of Mr. Schwartz's offender score.

VI. CONCLUSION

For those reasons, we believe the State has neither met a requisite criterion under RAP 13.4(b), nor established a basis for this Court to address whether a different trigger date should have applied. Therefore, we respectfully ask this court to deny the State's petition for review.